ORIGINAL

FILED

NFC. 02 2016

WASHINGTON STATE
SUPREME COURT

Case No. 038870

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Donald Canfield, Petitioner/Plaintiff

v.

Michelle Clark, Defendant.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

DIVISION ONE, WASHINGTON COURT OF APPEALS CASE NO. 72869-5-1

> Chellie M. Hammack Attorney for Appellant WSBA #31796 801 2nd Avenue, Suite 1410 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 223-1909

IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The petitioner/plaintiff is Donald Canfield.

COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Mr. Canfield seeks review of the Court of Appeals' published opinion, Canfield v. Clark, no. 72869-5-1 (August 22, 2016) (Appendix (App.) A), published by Order dated October 17, 2016 (App. B) which affirmed the King County Superior Court's order adopting a Special Verdict form requiring Canfield to prove damages for defamation per se and denying Canfield's motion for a directed verdict.

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Whether a statement that a party has a gun on school district property, a criminal act, is defamation per se and does not require a party to produce evidence of actual damage but allows damages to be presumed.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. BRIEF EARLY PROCEDURAL HISTORY OF THE CASE

Based upon the events described below, Plaintiff Donald Canfield filed two lawsuits, one against his former employer Seattle Public Schools ("SPS") and one against an employee Defendant Michelle Clark. CP 1-5 & 486. This case against Defendant Michelle Clark ("Defendant Clark") was filed in December 2009, and raised claims against Defendant Clark for defamation for

statements made to fellow employees and Defendant SPS' HR personnel, Jeanette Bliss. CP486. The second case against Seattle Public Schools ("SPS") raised claims of violations of Washington's Prevailing Wage Act/Wage Payment Act, including retaliation. *See Canfield v. Clark and Seattle Public Schools*, 2013 Wash. App. Lexis 1280, 3-4(2013). On motion of Defendants, the Court consolidated the cases. The facts surrounding the outcome of the case filed against SPS are described below. This case addresses the defamation claims brought against Defendant Clark.

- B. FACTS THAT GIVE RISE TO PLAINTIFF'S DEFAMATION CLAIMS.
 - 1. HISTORY OF EMPLOYMENT AND COMPLAINTS OF UNLAWFUL CONDUCT AT SEATTLE PUBLIC SCHOOLS.
 - a. Promoted to foreman, no history of discipline.

Plaintiff first began working as a journeyman electrician, in 1981, after completing a 4 year apprenticeship program. CP 615 (23:10-12). He has held his EL01, journeyman electricians commercial wiring license since that time. CP 616 (28:16-20). During the years he has been an electrician, he has been an active member of his union, IBEW Local 46. *Id.* He began working for Defendant Seattle Public Schools as a maintenance electrician in or about 1992. CP 615(26:1-10). He became the foreman of the electrical department in or around 2000. CP 619 (41:24-4). His duties as foreman of

the electrical shop include assigning work and managing the other electricians. CP 759-760. Although he can discipline employees under him, he does not have the authority to terminate an employee. *Id.* During the time he has worked with Defendant SPS up until December 2007, Plaintiff Canfield had never had any disciplinary action taken against him. *Id.*

b. Problems with funding for purchase of safety equipment, allow unskilled workers to perform electricians work, and participation in supporting a strong Union.

During the time Plaintiff Canfield has worked for Defendant SPS, he has been active in his union and has worked with the union to ensure electricians were treated fairly. CP 760. Over the years there had been problems with funding to purchase necessary safety equipment including aluminum ladders (using metal ladders is unsafe), flash protection (to protect electrician's in the event of an catastrophic electrical event), earthquake proof shelving, adequate heat in the office, safe trucks (including installation of the safety shield that protects drivers in the event of hard braking). CP 622-623 (81:21-85:18). There were always problems with funding and/or having money to purchase safety equipment. *Id.* Defendant SPS consists of two divisions, the maintenance division and the capitol division. CP 760. The capitol division has three separate divisions: Building Excellence ("BEX").

responsible for organizing new construction projects; Building Technologies Academics ("BTA"), responsible for remodel work, and Small Works, responsible for minority/small business contracts. *Id*.

c. Complaints regarding failure of Defendant SPS to pay his employees what he believed were appropriate wages payment of prevailing wage and problems with Small Works, "Summit Meeting" just days before being escorted off school property by police.

During 2007, Plaintiff Canfield had made complaints that he believed his employees were not being paid correctly when they were used to perform work along side contractors on capitol projects. CP 761-762, ¶ 7, See also CP 628 (169:4-170:16); CP 629 (176:2-182:24); CP 631 (185:20-189:20). Close in time to Defendant Clark's hire, the maintenance electricians were called to work on a BEX, or Capitol Works project involving the installation of cubicles. *Id.* Plaintiff Canfield had complained that he believed the maintenance electricians should be paid prevailing wage because they were doing work that was under contract, along side contractors, work that was not within the scope of their maintenance work. *Id.* Plaintiff Canfield had complained to the then new Senior Facilities Manager, Lynn Good. *Id.* Mr. Good had responded indicating Plaintiff Canfield and his employees would be paid the prevailing wage for the work completed. CP 761-762 & 779-780.

During his deposition, Dan Bryant the Senior Shop Foreman acknowledged that payment of prevailing wages to maintenance employees had been a continuing issue. CP 636-638 (40:17-46:23); CP 642-643 (123:18-125:12).

During a summit meeting, just days before his being escorted off school grounds by police, Plaintiff Canfield again raised the issue of payment of prevailing wages in relation to a project occurring at Nathan Hale. CP 761-762, ¶ 7; CP 628 (169:4-170:16); CP 629(176:2-182:24); CP 6311 (85:20-189:20). There were several supervisors and managers at the meeting, including union representatives. *Id.* Plaintiff Canfield explained that Mr. Good had agreed to pay prevailing wages to the maintenance electricians on the BEX project and that he believed they should be paid the same on the Nathan Hale project. *Id.* It was obvious to Plaintiff Canfield that this did not sit well with at least one of his supervisors, Mark Walsh. *Id.* Within days Plaintiff Canfield was escorted off the school grounds by police in a very public and embarrassing manner. *Id.*

- 2. DEFENDANT MICHELLE CLARK MAKES DEFAMATORY STATEMENTS WITH ACTUAL MALICE.
 - a. Plaintiff Canfield helps get a friend hired whom he believed was a good worker only to find that she refused to comply with the terms of her employment, refused to take direction and was a difficult employee.

During his time with Defendant SPS, Plaintiff Canfield had also served as the firm alarm technician. CP 762-763, ¶ 8. He did this from 1997 to 2006. Id. Plaintiff Canfield was looking to hire a new maintenance electrician to fill the position during the summer of 2007. Id. He had known Defendant Clark for several years and knew that she had an ELO6 license and was a licensed fire alarm tech. Id. An ELO6 license is a low voltage electricians license. Id. The position he was looking to fill was an EL01 position with a certificate as a fire alarm tech. Id., CP 781-785 (Ex D). He discussed the position with Defendant Clark explained the position would require that she attend class through the union to obtain her ELO1 license and become a union member. Id. Defendant Clark indicated she was interested in the position and Plaintiff Canfield set up a meeting with her, Nancy Mason and Janet Lewis, his union representatives, and Ed Heller, the Facilities Manager. Id. Mr. Heller left Defendant SPS shortly thereafter. Id. An agreement was reached and the terms were documents in a letter dated July 7, 2007 signed by Ed Heller. *Id.*, CP 786-787 (Ex E); CP 647-648 (51:18-55:17). The agreement required that Defendant Clark obtain her journeyman electricians license by attending school and working with the Union. CP 762-763 & 786-787 (Ex E); Unfortunately, it became clear to Plaintiff Canfield rather quickly that Defendant Clark had no intentions of obtaining her EL01

license, was a difficult employee to work with who refused to take direction or follow instructions. *Id.*

b. Defamatory statements to Aki Piffath and Jeanette Bliss - "when [she] started working here, [at SPS in August 2007] she asked him if he still had a gun on him and he said, yes it was in his pants."

During the first few months of her employment, Plaintiff Canfield had ongoing problem with Defendant Clark. CP 763, ¶ 9. Defendant Clark refused to follow direction. *Id.* She began to take equipment off the truck she was assigned including a ladder and pipe benders, something that was necessary in doing work as an ELO1 electrician. *Id.* Plaintiff Canfield asked Defendant Clark to leave the equipment on the truck as she was to obtain her ELO1 license and that there were times when she might be in the field when that equipment was necessary for other employees to use. *Id.* Defendant Clark ignored the request. *Id.* She also had a habit of failing to return phone calls and Plaintiff Canfield had a difficult time locating her. *Id.* To resolve this, he asked her to frequently check in with him. *Id.* This angered Defendant Clark. *Id.* Defendant Clark also had a habit of taking extended lunches and/or lunches at a time that was inappropriate. *Id.* Frustrated, Plaintiff Canfield contacted her previous supervisor to see if he had similar problems. *Id.* Unfortunately he learned that Defendant Clark had a history

of failing to follow orders and other frustrating work conduct. *Id.*, CP 788-789.

Because of the issues the parties were having, a meeting was called by Lynn Good to discuss the problem. CP 763-764, ¶ 10. Plaintiff Canfield told Lynn Good that he wanted to write Defendant Clark up for failing to follow orders and failing to act to obtain her ELO1 license. *Id.* Her failure to obtain the licenses was causing difficulty in scheduling work for Plaintiff Clark as he would have to ensure an EL01 was present and able to assist Defendant Clark with certain of her work projects. *Id.* Lynn Good told Plaintiff Canfield to wait, that she was a new employee and he would deal with it. *Id.* The parties did meet with the union representative present, Nancy Mason. *Id.* Each side discussed their issues and Plaintiff Canfield was hopeful that a resolution could be reached. *Id.* Unfortunately that was not the case and the problems continued. *Id.*

At the end of the week when the Summit Meeting occurred, the one in which Plaintiff Canfield raised the prevailing wage issue again to his supervisors, Plaintiff Canfield had scheduled the Friday off. CP 764-765, ¶ 11. He left Defendant Clark and another employee with instructions that they were to complete certain work orders. *Id.* Instead, Defendant Clark spent a good part of the day arranging to have desks delivered to the maintenance

electrician's shop. *Id.* During the meeting with Lynn Good, the parties had discussed purchasing some desks for the shop. *Id.* With Mr. Good's approval, Plaintiff Canfield had planned on moving forward with picking some newer desks from the BEX warehouse. *Id.* While he was gone, Defendant Clark decided to move in some desks, used desks that she had located under the south stands of memorial stadium at the Seattle Center. *Id.*

Plaintiff Canfield had introduced Defendant Clark to Aki Piffath, a maintenance employee, not an electrician, that lived in Marysville as a possible car pool partner for Defendant Clark. CP 765, ¶ 12. The parties had been carpooling together. CP 656-660 (89:25-102:7). Apparently, after work that day, Defendant Clark complained to Mr. Piffath about Plaintiff Canfield. Id. In the process, she relayed to Mr. Piffath reports that Plaintiff Canfield carried a gun. Id. Plaintiff Clark testified that during that drive home, Mr. Piffath suggested that Defendant Clark talk with HR about her complaints. Id. It is unclear who first contacted HR, but Ms. Jeanette Bliss, Defendant SPS' HR representative contacted Defendant Clark to arrange a meeting a few days later. Id. During that meeting, Defendant Clark complained about Plaintiff Canfield, told Ms. Bliss she was afraid of Plaintiff Canfield and that he carried a gun. RP, Vol 5, 405:8-408:24. Ms. Bliss took notes during the interview. Id. Ms. Bliss testified that Ms. Clark told her that Plaintiff

Canfield had guns in his home. *Id.* Ms. Clark went on to describe an event that occurred several years ago where she met Plaintiff Canfield on a weekend to help her load a pot into her car she was purchasing at a pottery store. CP 657-658 (90:14-93:22). She indicated he instructed her to park on school property, across the street from the store, and they walked across the street. *Id.* During the walk across the street, Defendant Clark claims that Plaintiff Canfield took out a gun and carried it in his hand. *Id.* After crossing the street, he put the gun back in his pocket. *Id.* However, that is the only statement Defendant Clark testified that she recalled making. *See* CP 656-660 (89:25-102:7). Ms. Bliss testified that Defendant Clark stated further that after she began work in August 2007, she asked Plaintiff Canfield if he still had a gun and he said, yes it is in my pants. RP, Vol 5, 405:8-408:24. Mr. Piffath was present during this meeting as well. *Id.*

Ms. Bliss testified that Mr. Canfield was escorted off the property that day due to the gun allegation. CP 680 (57:4-59:25) & RP Vol. V, 413:14-414:15. Plaintiff Canfield was contacted and brought to the security office. CP 765, ¶ 13. When Plaintiff Canfield entered the office, the door was locked behind him. *Id.* He was told that he was being placed on administrative leave and that there was an allegation that he was carrying a gun. *Id.* Shocked, he stated he was not carrying a gun, had never carried a

gun on school property and offered to be searched, offered his keys to his personal truck, the company truck and keys to his desk and file cabinets. *Id.*No one from the school district searched him or his things and the police did not search him. *Id.* When he was escorted off the property, he again offered to be searched but was told no. *Id.*

Plaintiff Canfield was placed on administrative leave beginning that day, December 5, 2007. CP 680 (57:4-59:25). Ms. Bliss completed the investigation into Defendant Clark's complaints by the end of December 2007. *Id.* Plaintiff Canfield was left on leave through July 2008. *Id.* Defendant SPS imposed discipline including a demotion, allowing Plaintiff Canfield to return to work but as a maintenance electrician, not as a foreman. *Id.*

C. ERRORS OCCURRING AT TRIAL.

1. THE COURT ADOPTS DEFENDANT'S SPECIAL VERDICT FORM WITH QUESTION NO. 3 THAT IS MISLEADING AND DOES NOT ACCOUNT FOR A POSSIBLE FINDING BY THE JURY THAT STATEMENTS WERE DEFAMATORY PER SE.

At trial the Court adopted jury instructions setting out the definition of defamation, CP 1611 (Instruction No. 4), elements of the cause of action CP 1612 (Instruction No. 5), and the definition of defamation per se, CP 1616

(Instruction No. 9). See also CP 885-921; 960-996; 1639-1668 (Pl's proposed instruction). Given the issues with admission of reputation evidence and Defendant's anticipated argument that Plaintiff would have to prove damage to reputation, Plaintiff objected to the Court's adoption of Instruction No. 4, the definition of a defamatory statement in that Plaintiff requested the trial court include language that clarified damage to reputation was not a requirement. RP, Vol. X 1134:13-1136:12. Plaintiff also objected to Instruction No. 4 and the Special Verdict Form, Question No. 3 based upon the concern that the jury would be confused and be mislead into believing that Plaintiff had to show damage and/or damage to reputation even if the statements were found to be defamatory per se. RP, Vol. X, 1138:14-1142:18; 1144:3-1146:14.

Although the jury in the case found Defendant Clark made defamatory statements with malice, in answer to Question No. 3, the jury answered no. finding the statements did not cause damage to Plaintiff. CP 1639-1668.

2. DEFENSE COUNSEL MISTATES THE LAW DURING CLOSING ARGUMENT STATING PLAINTIFF MUST SHOW DAMAGE TO REPUTATION TO PREVAIL ON HIS CLAIM.

Using the information contained in the exhibits outlined above and SPS employee testimony, Defense counsel argued that Plaintiff did not produce any evidence of damages at trial. RP, Vol. X, 1183:2-1184:17 & 1199:11-1200:4.

In summary, during closing argument Defense counsel used the definition of a defamatory statement to argue that Plaintiff must establish that his reputation was damaged to prevail on his claim. *Id*.

Plaintiff objected to these statements as an incorrect statement of law, pointing out that Plaintiff does not have to prove damage to reputation to recover damages. *Id.* The Court over ruled Plaintiff's objection allowed the comments to stand. *Id.*

3. THE COURT DENIES PLAINTIFF'S MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL AND/OR DIRECTED VERDICT.

At trial, Plaintiff introduced evidence of the statements made by Defendant Clark to Auki Piffath and Jeanette Bliss as outlined above. RP Vol. IV, 367:9-374:1; RP, Vol VI 580:13-583:13. Both sets of statements included the allegation that Plaintiff Canfield had a gun on him while working at the school district on district property. *Id.*

Contrary to her prior deposition testimony, during trial Defendant Clark admitted making the statement but claimed the remark she attributed to Plaintiff, that he had a gun in his pants, was a sexual innuendo. RP, Vol. VII, 641:4-645:22.. When asked if that were the case why she did not report it as sexual harassment, Defendant Clark had no explanation. RP, Vol. VII, 650:20-653:17. Plaintiff explained to the jury that carrying a gun on school property during work hours was a violation of the law and described the events that

occurred after the report by Defendant Clark, that he was escorted from school property by police in a public manner, that it was embarrassing and humiliating. RP, Vol. III, 214:9-216:18.

Plaintiff also offered other evidence of damage including his testimony. RP, Vol. IV, 286:17-290:9. Other SPS employees testified that they had heard about the gun allegation and that Plaintiff was known for it, that is Plaintiff was identified as the guy that had been escorted off the school grounds based upon a gun allegation. RP, Vol. VII, 716:21-717:15 & 731:8-13.

After trial, Plaintiff renewed its motion for a directed verdict made at the close of evidence, requesting the Court enter as a matter of law a finding that the statements made by Defendant Clark were defamatory per se. RP Vol. IX, 1125:17-1126:10; 1147:1-1148:7; CP 1669-1684. The Court denied Plaintiff's motion. *Id.* Plaintiff also requested a new trial based upon the errors outlined in this brief. CP 1669-1684. The Court also denied that motion. CP1708-1713.

ARGUMENT

- A. Requiring a plaintiff to prove that a defamatory per se statement caused damage is contrary to Washington law.
 - 1. Elements of Defamation and Defamation Per Se.

"In Washington, a defamation plaintiff must show four essential elements: falsity, an unprivileged communication, fault and damages." *John Doe v. Gonzaga University, et. al,* 143 Wn.2d 687, 701 (2001) (reversed on other grounds, *Gonzaga Univ. v. Doe*, 536 U.S. 273 (2002)), *quoting Commodore v. Univer. Mech. Contractors. Inc.*, 120 Wn.2d, 133 (1992).

When the Plaintiff is a private individual, a negligence standard applies. Vern Sims Ford, Inc., et. al., v. Hagel, 42 Wn.App. 675, 678 (1986), citing Caruso v. Local 690, Int'l Bhd. Of Teamsters, 100 Wn.2d 343, 352 (1983). A Plaintiff is a public figure or public official must show, "actual malice' - that is knowledge of the falsity or reckless disregard of the truth or faslity of the allegedly defamatory statements. Id. (citations omitted). Public figures are, "...those who 'occupy positions of such persuasive power and influence that they are deemed public figures for all purposes', or those who become public figures with response to a particular public controversy because they have 'thrust themselves to the forefront... in order to influence the resolution of the issues involved.." Id. at 679 citing Hutchinson v. Proxmire, 443 U.S. 111, 134-35 (1979). "Actual malice is knowledge of the falsity or reckless disregard of the truth or falsity of the statement." Id. at 681 (citation omitted). Actual malice can be inferred from facts, evidence of negligence, motive and intent. Id. (citations omitted).

Slanderous statements that affect a person in his business or trade are defamatory per se. A.F. Grein v. Nugent LaPoma et. al., 54 Wn.2d 844, 848 (1959). "Where a defamation is actionable per se, and neither truth nor privilege is established as a defense, the defamed person is entitled to substantial damages without proving actual damages." Michielli et al., U.S. Mortgage Co., 58 Wn.2d 221, 227 (1961), citing Cf. Arnold v. National Union of Marine Cooks & Stewards, 44 Wn. (2d) 183 (1954).

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