## RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON CLERK'S OFFICE

Dec 15, 2016, 10:22 am

Supreme Court No. 93884-9 Court of Appeals No. 72869-5

#### RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

# THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION 1

DONALD CANFIELD,

Appellant,

V.

MICHELLE CLARK,

Respondent.

#### RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Mark F. O'Donnell WSBA #13606 Amber R. Hazelquist WSBA #41283 Preg O'Donnell & Gillett PLLC 901 Fifth Ave., Suite 3400 Seattle, WA 98164 (206) 287-1775 Attorneys for Respondent Michelle Clark

## **

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

As determined by the Court of Appeals, jury instruction no. 9 properly informed the jury that a plaintiff who proves defamation per se does not need to prove "actual damages". However, as the Appellate

Court stated, "reasonable jurors could have adopted Clark's view of the evidence". Appendix A, pg. 11.

Review should be denied because the Court of Appeals applied settled principles of defamation law to affirm the jury verdict and decisions of the trial court. The Appellate Court decision does not conflict with other decisions or depart from settled case law. The jury instructions and jury verdict form were properly formatted to allow the parties to argue their theories of the case and allow the jury to apply the law to the facts of the case.

In light of all of the evidence in this matter the jury simply did not find that Ms. Clark's statements, though defamatory, caused any damage to Mr. Canfield. As was stated by the Appellate Court, "The jury knew from instruction 9, the instruction on defamation per se, that Canfield was not required to prove actual damages if the communication was defamatory per se." Appendix A, pg. 9. "The jury may have found that Clark's statement, while defamatory, did not have the effect of exposing him to ridicule, depriving him of public confidence, or injuring him in his job and therefore did not cause him any damage." *Id.* Petitioner's request for review should be denied.

#### IV. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Whether the Court should deny review of the Court of Appeals decision because the Court of Appeals decision aligns with established case law regarding defamation and defamation per se. The jury instructions and jury verdict form were properly formatted to allow the parties to argue their theories of the case and allow the jury to apply the law to the facts of the case and thus the Appellate Court decision should not be reviewed. Pursuant to RAP 13.4(b) there are no appropriate grounds for review of the Appellate Court decision and thus Mr. Canfield's Petition should be denied.

#### V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. Procedural Background

Mr. Canfield initially filed this lawsuit against his former coworker in the Electrical Department at Seattle Public Schools, Michelle Clark, alleging defamation and negligent infliction of emotional distress in December 2009. CP 1-5. Mr. Canfield filed a lawsuit against their employer, Seattle Public Schools as well in July 2010 and the cases were consolidated. *See Canfield v. Clark, et al.*, No. 67274-6-I (May 28, 2013), a copy of which is attached as Appendix B at pg. 3. The trial court

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> As this opinion represents the law of the case, citation to it is not prohibited by GR 14.1.

granted summary judgment dismissing the claims against Ms. Clark on April 19, 2011. *Id.* In July 2011, a jury trial of Mr. Canfield's claims against the District was held. *Id.* Ultimately the trial court granted the District's motion for judgment as a matter of law notwithstanding the jury verdict dismissing Mr. Canfield's claims against the District as well. *Id.* 

Mr. Canfield appealed the trial court's dismissal of his claims against the District following trial and its earlier dismissal of his claims against Michelle Clark on summary judgment. *Id.* The Appellate Court upheld the trial court as to the claims against the District but reversed the original summary judgment in Ms. Clark's favor on Mr. Canfield's defamation claims because of a letter written in 2008 by someone named Jessie Logan. *See Id.* at 5-6. The Court of Appeals viewing this evidence in the light most favorable to Mr. Canfield found that the letter created issues of fact as to the defamation claim and remanded back to the Superior Court. *Id.* 

A jury trial of Mr. Canfield's claims against Ms. Clark took place from October 27, 2014 through November 5, 2014. At trial Mr. Canfield claimed that he was damaged as a result of two statements made by Ms. Clark, to two individuals, Ms. Jeanette Bliss (former human resources representative) and Mr. Akira "Auki" Piffath (a co-worker and Ms. Clark's carpool friend). *See* RP 367-374, 580-583. The alleged

statements included or implied that Mr. Canfield may have had a gun on school district property. *Id*.

Jessie Logan was never deposed; she had never been put under oath. She did not testify at trial. Without the testimony of Ms. Logan, Mr. Canfield had little persuasive evidence to present to the jury in support of his defamation claims.

The jury heard the evidence and concluded that while defamatory statements were made, Mr. Canfield suffered no injury or damage as a result of Ms. Clark's statements. CP 1637-1638. As was affirmed by the Court of Appeals, the jury was presented with ample evidence from which it could reach this conclusion over the course of the trial.

Mr. Canfield appealed several evidentiary decisions of the trial court as well as the adoption of the Special Verdict Form. Mr. Canfield argued that the Verdict Form was erroneous and did not give the jury the opportunity to find defamation per se. The Appellate Court correctly affirmed the decisions of the trial court including that the jury instructions and verdict form in conjunction with Petitioner's closing argument gave the jury ample opportunity to consider defamation per se. Appendix A, pg. 9, 12. The Appellate Court recognized that Mr. Canfield's counsel argued in closing and again in rebuttal, "if we show defamatory per se, you can presume damages." RP 1207. The jury was simply not

convinced that the statements injured Mr. Canfield in his business, trade or profession; they did not believe the statements subjected him to the kind of ridicule or contempt required for defamation per se. In fact, they did not find that Ms. Clark's statements damaged Mr. Canfield at all.

The Appellate Court appropriately confirmed that the jury instructions read in conjunction with the special verdict form allowed Mr. Canfield to argue his theory of the case fully and completely to the jury. He simply did not have the evidence to support his theory of defamation per se. Ms. Clark presented evidence to convince the jury to reject Mr. Canfield's claim of damages.

The Appellate Court relied on settled case law in making its decisions. This court should deny Mr. Canfield's petition for review and finally put an end to this litigation.

#### B. Evidence at Trial.

Mr. Canfield's statement of the case is distorted and inaccurate.

Mr. Canfield opens his brief with a lengthy irrelevant and unsubstantiated "history".

Mr. Canfield's version of the facts projects Mr. Canfield as a champion for his co-workers attempting to procure appropriate wages and allegedly missing safety equipment. In addition to being largely irrelevant, Mr. Canfield's version of the facts does not comport with the

actual evidence at trial. The evidence the jury actually heard is that Mr. Canfield, a long time Seattle Public Schools employee, in the Electrical Department, had conflicts with no less than six of his co-workers and seemingly every manager he dealt with at Seattle Public Schools. A significant portion of Mr. Canfield's factual statement requires no response because it either supports Ms. Clark's position or is irrelevant.

At trial there was minimal evidence of any defamatory statements. While there was significant evidence of Mr. Canfield being involved in conflicts with several of his co-workers as well as Seattle Public Schools' management.

As was detailed in Ms. Clark's Response to Mr. Canfield's Appeal, conflict marred Mr. Canfield's tenure as an electrician with the District, in particular his time with authority as a foreman over his fellow electricians. Mr. Canfield started work with the District in 1992 and became a foreman in 2001. RP 163. Mr. Canfield became a foreman after his supervisor Nam Chan quit in response to a conflict with Mr. Canfield. RP 165.

Once Mr. Canfield became a foreman, the conflicts escalated. Mr. Canfield had numerous conflicts with the District. RP 189-199. He had conflicts with Jeff Hillard, Nam Chan, Mark Johnson and Bill Wickersham, all before Ms. Clark started at the District. RP 301-303. He later had conflicts with Dan Bryant and Mike Jackson. RP 342-345.

When he became aware in 2006 that his supervisees were complaining about him, *see*, RP 213-214, Mr. Canfield began filing notifications of performance concerns regarding Jeff Hillard, Bill Wickersham and Nam Chan. RP 232-234.

In September 2006, before Ms. Clark started at the District, the District met with several electricians, two of Mr. Canfield's supervisors, and a union business representative, to discuss complaints about Mr. Canfield's interactions and management style as the foreman over other electricians, concluding that he needed help with his management style. RP 235-236; RP 305-306.

Mr. Canfield could offer almost no evidence of how he was damaged by Ms. Clark's statements to two people, Auki Piffath and Jeanette Bliss, particularly in light of Mr. Canfield's serious unrelated issues with his co-workers and District management. Mr. Canfield testified extensively in direct examination about conflicts with District management including his wage and safety allegations. RP 189-192.

Similar to the Statement of the Case in Mr. Canfield's Petition, Mr. Canfield actually testified that the District's action in keeping him on leave, their "discipline" of him, was motivated by his advocating prevailing wages and other changes for the electrical department workers;

not that it was due to Ms. Clark's complaints. RP 282-283; See also Petition for Review at pg. 5.

Multiple current and former District employees testified at trial and the overwhelming evidence was that Mr. Canfield's reputation was poor at all times before and after Ms. Clark's statements. *See* RP 506-507, 721, 726-732, 801, 816, 835, 976, 988, 1028-1031. Furthermore, Mr. Canfield's witnesses actually confirmed that Mr. Canfield was perpetuating whatever statements Ms. Clark made by repeatedly bringing up the subject himself. *See*, RP 719; RP 732. Consequently the evidence did not indicate that Ms. Clark was responsible for any "gun rumors" involving Mr. Canfield.

Further, Mr. Lynn Good, a former District employee also rebutted Mr. Canfield's testimony that he was placed on administrative leave from the District offices in a manner that caused Mr. Canfield public humiliation. Mr. Good handled the event, and he testified that it was done without any commotion and without anyone taking notice. *See*, RP 985-986. His testimony in this respect agreed with the testimony of Ms. Bliss. RP 453-454.

#### VI. THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Mr. Canfield's request for review is based on the premise that the Court of Appeals improperly applied case law and held that the jury was

not required to find damages in a clear defamation per se case. Presumably Mr. Canfield is arguing, similar to in his Appeal, that despite having a jury instruction regarding defamation per se, and arguing repeatedly about defamation per se in closing, the jury instructions and jury verdict form did not allow the jury to consider defamation per se. Mr. Canfield argues that Ms. Clark's statements were defamatory per se and no reasonable juror could find otherwise – given different instructions. As the Court of Appeals summarized the argument:

According to Canfield, the defamatory statement that he carried a gun on school grounds was necessarily defamatory per se because that conduct is criminal. Yet the jury failed to assess any damages at all, and in Canfield's opinion that failure must have occurred because of the wording of question 3 [of the special verdict form]. Appendix A, pg. 8.

The Court of Appeals considered Mr. Canfield's argument and appropriately disagreed holding:

We disagree. The jury was not obliged to find defamation per se. Instruction 9 required Canfield to prove that a defamatory statement exposed him to a set of circumstances from which damages may be presumed: "A defamatory statement is defamatory per se if it exposes person to hatred, contempt, ridicule or obloquy, to deprive him of the benefit of public confidence or social intercourse, or injures him in his business, trade, profession or office." The jury may have found that Clark's statement, while defamatory, did not have the effect of exposing him to ridicule, depriving him of public confidence, or injuring him in his job and therefore did not cause him any damage.

If the jury did find that Clark's statement about the gun was defamatory per se, question 3 did not force the jury to find actual

damages. The jury knew from instruction 9, the instruction on defamation per se, that Canfield was not required to prove actual damages if the communication was defamatory per se. When read as a whole the instructions, the special verdict form properly informed the jury of the applicable law. Appendix A, pg. 9.

At trial, the parties engaged in significant oral argument regarding the jury instructions as well as the format of the special verdict form. Petitioner's proposed jury instruction regarding defamation per se is similar to the instruction ultimately adopted by the trial court. Petitioner's proposed the following instruction:

Generally, a plaintiff may recover only the actual damage caused by defamation. However, plaintiff is not required to prove actual damages if a communication injures the plaintiff in his profession or is such that it holds the plaintiff up to contempt, hatred or ridicule and the defendant knew the communication was false or acted with reckless disregard for the truth or falsity of the communication. If you find plaintiff was not required to prove actual damages you may presume plaintiff was damaged. CP 979.

Ultimately, the trial court included jury instruction no. 9 regarding defamation per se:

Generally, a plaintiff may recover only the actual damages caused by defamation. However, a plaintiff is not required to prove actual damages if a communication is "defamatory per se." A defamatory statement is defamatory per se if it exposes a person to hatred, contempt, ridicule or obloquy, to deprive him of the benefit of public confidence or social intercourse, or injures him in his business, trade, profession or office. RP 1108-1110.

Both instructions inform the jury that the plaintiff is not required to prove "actual damages" if he proves defamation per se. The trial court further

held that the parties could argue the details and meaning of the defamation per se instruction in closing. RP 1112.

The Appellate Court cited to *State v. Fehr*, 185 Wn. App. 505, 514, 341 P.3d 363 (2015) in reviewing the trial court decisions regarding the jury instructions and special verdict form and held, "We review a trial court's decision regarding a special verdict form under the same standard we apply to decisions regarding jury instructions." Appendix A, pg. 7. The Appellate Court further held, "Jury instructions are not erroneous if they permit each party to argue their theory of the case, are not misleading, and when read as a whole, properly inform the trier of fact of the applicable law." *Id.* at 7-8.

As was recognized by the Appellate Court, utilizing the court's instructions, each party did argue its position on defamation per se in closing. Counsel for Mr. Canfield argued to the jury that if they found defamation per se they could presume damages exist:

You can presume damages. And what you do is you presume damages that would naturally flow from that type of statement. So you need to keep this in mind when you're determining the damage portion as well. They still need to be damages that would be proximately caused by the statement, but you can presume they exist. It's a form of what they call strict liability. RP 1167.

Ultimately the Appellate Court appropriately, and in accordance with settled case law, held: "In summary, question

three on the verdict form did not misstate the law, it was not misleading, and it did not prevent the jury from considering Canfield's theory of defamation per se." Appendix A at pg. 12.

#### VII. ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals affirmed the decisions of the trial court appealed by Mr. Canfield including introduction of certain evidence and the adoption of the jury instructions and the jury verdict form. The Appellate Court did so in compliance with settled Washington case law. Further, there is no constitutional issue or conflict of substantial public interest. There is no applicable reason for review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b) and thus Mr. Canfield's Petition should be denied.

# A. The Court of Appeals' Decision Aligns With Settled Washington Case Law Regarding the Elements of Defamation Per Se.

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